

## Chapter 8 – Land Use

In the Fall of 2005, Lancaster County initiated the update of the 2000 Comprehensive Plan. The purpose of the Update is two-fold. The first is to meet the statutory requirement (Title 15.2-2223 of the State Code) that localities review their Comprehensive Plan at least every five years. Secondly, the County determined that the 2000 Plan and land use codes did not provide effective tools to manage land use and to preserve the County's natural beauty and rural character. Recently cited as "One of the Best Places to Live" in *Progressive Farmer* magazine, the County can expect to receive increasing interest from retiring baby boomers and others attracted to its unique scenic resources, extensive waterfront and high quality of life. Many would agree with Captain John Smith's assessment, made almost four hundred years ago in 1608, that the County is "a place where heaven and earth never agreed better to frame man's habitation." County officials often found themselves attempting to make incremental decisions on land use without clearly articulated guiding principles or maps in the Plan. Recognizing that improved policies and regulations were badly needed to help guide future land use, the County determined that the main focus of the update would be to revise the Plan's land use elements and related provisions in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances.

The Plan update began with a series of five public input meetings held in locations throughout the County. The following primary issues emerged through the course of the five meetings and other public input provided to the Consultant team.

- Preserve the County's rural character
- Preserve the quality of the County's waterfront
- Manage the quality and character of future development
- Preserve and increase public access to the county's waterfront
- Preserve historic character, buildings and sites
- Increase the supply of affordable housing
- Pursue economic development and increase jobs, particularly for young people and working-age adults
- Protect the watershed, groundwater, aquifers, drinking water, and waterways and ensure the adequate supply of potable water
- Prevent sprawl and 'checker-board' development
- Concentrate higher-density commercial and residential development in appropriate areas, particularly around existing villages and towns
- Increase recreational opportunities including parks, biking and trails

Following the public input meetings, the 2000 Comprehensive Plan was reviewed to determine the changes needed in the Plan document and the Zoning Ordinance to address these land use issues and goals. The issue of economic development is addressed in Chapter 7, while protection of water resources is primarily addressed in Chapter 3.

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

**Deleted:** In the Fall of 2005, Lancaster County initiated the update of the 2000 Comprehensive Plan. The purpose of the Update is two-fold. The first is to meet the statutory requirement (Title 15.2-2223 of the State Code) that localities review their Comprehensive Plan at least every five years. Secondly, the County determined that the 2000 Plan and land use codes did not provide effective tools to manage land use and to preserve the County's natural beauty and rural character. Recently cited as "One of the Best Places to Live" in *Progressive Farmer* magazine, the County can expect to receive increasing interest from retiring baby boomers and others attracted to its unique scenic resources, extensive waterfront and high quality of life. Many would agree with Captain John Smith's assessment, made almost four hundred years ago in 1608, that the County is "a place where heaven and earth never agreed better to frame man's habitation." County officials often found themselves attempting to make incremental decisions on land use without clearly articulated guiding principles or maps in the Plan. Recognizing that improved policies and regulations were badly needed to help guide future land use, the County determined that the main focus of the update would be to revise the Plan's land use elements and related provisions in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances.¶

The Plan update began with a series of five public input meetings held in locations throughout the County. The meetings were on the following locations and dates: ¶

<#>March 4, 2006 from 10:00am to 12:00am at Lancaster High School¶  
<#>March 4, 2006 from 2:00pm to 4:00pm at the Upper Lancaster Ruritan¶  
<#>March 10, 2006 from 7:00pm to 9:00pm at Sharon Baptist Church¶  
<#>March 11, 2006 from 10:00am to 12:00am at White Stone Firehouse¶  
<#>March 11, 2006 from 2:00pm to 4:00pm at Tides Inn¶

¶ There was one public meeting in each of the five Magisterial Districts in Lancaster County. In addition to members of the community and the Planning Commissioner from the Magisterial District in which the meeting was held, there were additional Commission Members and in some cases county staff in attendance at the meetings. The LandDesign Team presented large format graphics detailing goals and objectives of the planning process, basic demographic data, and the following maps:¶

¶  
<#>Bike trails¶

... [1]

# VISION STATEMENT

*Lancaster County .....*

The remaining land use issues have been organized into four major themes or elements:

1. Rural Character and Heritage
2. Quality Growth
3. Recreational Opportunities
4. Diverse Communities

Deleted: primary

Deleted: or themes

Deleted: c

Deleted: h

## 1. RURAL CHARACTER AND HERITAGE

Lancaster County citizens strongly desire to preserve the County's rural, peaceful and quiet character and heritage.

*Goal: Preserve Lancaster County's Rural Character and Heritage*

Deleted: One of the strongest themes to emerge from the input meetings was the strong

Deleted: s

Deleted: '

Deleted: '

Deleted: Many described t

Deleted: The County as 'rural', 'peaceful' and 'quiet' and expressed a strong preference residents want to maintain these characteristics. ¶

Deleted: The desire or goal to r

Deleted: was typically identified as one of the

Deleted: following elements

Deleted: .

Retaining the County's rural character involves three elements:

1. Protecting farmland and agricultural resources
2. Preserving the County's historic resources
3. Preserving undeveloped open space and views along major roads

The following section identifies objectives and policies for each of the three elements and recommendations for Plan amendments.

### 1. Protecting farmland and agricultural resources

Of the 42,930 acres of land in Lancaster County considered to be prime for agricultural activity, 17,014 acres were still in use in 1990 for farming purposes. Farming is an

Deleted: only

important component of the County's economic history and farmlands provide the "aesthetically pleasing landscape" referred to by many citizens, contribute to the local economy and also assist with recharging groundwater aquifers. According to the 2000 Census, employment related to farming, fishing and forestry declined over 65% between 1990 and 2000 (253 jobs to 85 jobs). The change in employment does not necessarily imply a direct correlation in the reduction of land in agricultural use, but does indicate trends in agriculture-related activity. The County recognizes that different key policy approaches are required for farmland preservation versus open space preservation; and that effective farmland preservation and management efforts require a multi-faceted approach with many elements beyond land use policies and regulations.

Deleted: As noted in the 2000 Comprehensive Plan, f  
Deleted: F  
Deleted: that was mentioned by many of the citizens

**Objective 1-A: Preserve, protect and promote the County's agricultural lands and activities.**

Strategies:

- Develop a comprehensive farmland protection program with the necessary blend of land use and economic policies and actions.
- Update the inventory of land still in agricultural use as a first step to allow for improved farmland management and development of a comprehensive farmland protection program.
- Direct new residential and commercial development to designated growth areas (see Objective 2A).
- Refine the list of permitted uses within the agricultural areas to limit those uses related to agricultural community activities.
- Adopt a right-to-farm policy statement to allow activities related to farming operations to continue. Provide information about farming practice and its cultural importance in Lancaster County to prospective homebuyers.
- Allow residential conservation subdivision by-right (not to exceed the maximum density allowed) in the A-1 and A-2 zoning districts. Develop conservation subdivision design standards to encourage efficient land use and preservation of land area adequate to function as farmland. Residential design standards should also provide for appropriate transitions and buffering between the residential component and open space areas and nearby properties or roadways.

Deleted: Plan  
Deleted: the differences between policies to  
Deleted: preserve  
Deleted: and  
Deleted: ,

Deleted: According to the 2000 Census, employment related to farming, fishing and forestry declined over 65% between 1990 and 2000 (253 jobs to 85 jobs). Insert text about reduced level of ag in overall county employment. The change in employment does not necessarily imply a direct correlation in the reduction of land in agricultural use, but does indicate trends in agriculture-related activity.

Deleted: As a future action, the County may want to develop a comprehensive farmland protection program with the necessary blend of land use and economic policies and actions.

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Deleted: The 2000 Comprehensive Plan stated that "of the 42,930 acres of land in Lancaster County considered to be prime for agricultural activity, only 17,014 acres were still in use in 1990 for farming purposes." The County will u

Deleted: the  
Deleted: right  
Deleted: to  
Deleted:  
Deleted: and d

(The County's current 'agricultural' zoning districts include A-1 which allows for by-right development of one dwelling unit per two acres and A-2 which allows for almost two dwelling units per acre. This style of conventional large-lot subdivision development, along with the lack of any farmland preservation policies, creates a high potential for the loss of prime agricultural land and inefficient development patterns that counteract the overall objective).

Deleted: (The County's current 'agricultural' zoning districts include A-1 which allows for by-right development of one (1) dwelling unit per two acres and A-2 which allows for two (2) dwelling units per acre. This style of conventional large-lot subdivision development, along with the lack of any farmland preservation policies, creates a high potential for the loss of prime agricultural land.)

- Revise the Zoning Ordinance to require Residential Zoning for all conventional residential subdivision activities to strengthen the County's ability to manage future land use in identified agricultural areas.

Deleted: rezoning

**Objective 1-B: Preserve the historic resources and archaeological sites that reflect**

**the heritage and historical significance of Lancaster County.**

The County's historic buildings and other resources are an important part of the County's identity and character and should be protected. Chapter 6 of the Plan notes the importance and benefits of historic preservation, and includes a partial listing of the County's historic resources and a policy goal with four objectives for historic preservation. Additional strategies include the following:

Deleted: Several citizens felt that

Deleted: t

Strategies:

- Provide property owners with information on how to have their properties included in the Virginia Landmarks Register or the National Register and how to seek available Federal rehabilitation tax credits
- Create and maintain a computerized inventory, listing and map of all significant historic, cultural, architectural and archeological sites. The Virginia Department of Resources provides a resource for technical and financial assistance to local jurisdictions. Include all identified historic, cultural, archeological and architecturally significant sites on a map in the amended Comprehensive Plan.
- Require surveying, identifying and mitigating adverse impacts on proven historic resources as a condition for rezoning and special use permits.
- Encourage voluntary efforts for historic preservation, including donation of preservation easements by property owners.
- Utilize strategies such as brochures with local landmarks, local landmark signs, and driving tours.

Deleted: r

Deleted: Many participants commented on the

Deleted: expressed

Deleted: They also expressed concern over unkemp

Deleted: Unkept areas in the County as detracting from the overall visual quality of the County. The 2000 Comprehensive Plan recognized the importance of the retaining the historic uncluttered and undeveloped character of the road corridors, and included a goal to "Prevent unsightly strip development from occurring along Lancaster County roadways."

**Objective 1-C: Preserve open space and views along major roads**

County residents desire to retain the views along the County's roadways and are concerned over the potential impact of any type of development on these views.

Strategies:

- Promote land use practices to preserve the rural character and qualities of the County.
- Allow low intensity field crop farming as a by-right use in reserved open space areas.
- Allow efficient development patterns that prioritize preservation of open space, wooded areas, and other features.
- Conditionally allow residential subdivisions to protect agricultural land and open space.
- Discourage commercial and residential sprawl along road corridors through inappropriate rezonings.
- The County has adopted a Highway Corridor Overlay District in its Zoning Ordinance which applies to Routes 3, 354, and 200 (except within the town limits of Kilmarnock, White Stone, and Irvington.) Revise the Historic Corridor Overlay District to better protect the rural character and to encourage appropriate development. In order to preserve the County's rural character and minimize the impact of nonresidential and multifamily development on the rural aesthetic, the HCOD standards should be enhanced to promote a

Deleted: ¶

¶  
¶  
¶

<sp>The County has adopted a added the provision for the Highway Corridor Overlay District to the Zoning Ordinance which applies to Routes 3, 354, and 200 (except within the town limits of Kilmarnock, White Stone, and Irvington.)¶

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Deleted: with requirements for

Deleted:

Deleted: which preserve farmland, and open space and scenic vistas.

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: Develop corridor preservation plans for Routes 3, 354 and 200 that identifies the unique vistas and development patterns along each corridor and other scenic resources that should be protected.¶

development pattern that acknowledges and supports this policy goal. Therefore, setbacks should be established from the edge of the roadway, instead of from the centerline of the road. This will ensure a more consistent 'look and feel' along the various roadways. Additionally, the County should consider revising the land development regulations to limit the amount of parking allowed between the primary structure and the roadway. Rather than allowing an unlimited amount of parking in this important visual area, the ordinance could be revised to limit parking to one or two bays, with the balance of parking located to the side or rear of the primary structure(s). Alternatively, the standards could be revised to allow more site design and layout flexibility (reduced setbacks, increased building height, less restrictions on parking location, etc.) if the development is completely screened from the roadway by a site plan that is designed and developed to retain significant stands of trees along the road frontage and/or provide buffering through landscaped, vegetated berms.

- Provide incentives to retain stands of trees, open spaces, and other buffer areas. Incentives may include lot size flexibility or site layout flexibility in exchange for increased buffering from the roadway.
- Encourage the use of conservation easements and land trusts to help preserve open space, farmland, and undeveloped natural areas along the County's roadways.

**Deleted:** Encourage voluntary efforts to provide for buffers along roadways to preserve vegetation and trees

**Deleted:** .

## **2. QUALITY GROWTH**

The County desires to discourage, sprawl-like development occurring in Lancaster County and steer future development to the most appropriate locations. The County's Future Land Use Map shows the desired location and pattern of future land use, including the type and intensity of new residential, commercial or industrial development. Character areas describe the desired land use patterns and characteristics.

**Deleted:** Many attendees expressed concern about the potential for

**Deleted:** and

**Deleted:** want

**Deleted:** occur at

**Deleted:** has been revised to

**Deleted:** have been identified to

**Deleted:** s in the future and to guide land use decisions by the County.

**Ensure orderly and well-managed land use that protects the County's natural beauty, quality of life and its communities.**

### **Character Areas**

A Primary Growth Area (PGA) includes existing locations of the highest level of residential, commercial, and employment activity with the highest level of existing public infrastructure, including public water and sewer. Most community services, such as hospitals and places of higher education, are located in the PGA. The primary centers of commercial and development activity in the County are the three towns of Kilmarnock, White Stone and Irvington. The unincorporated area located between the towns, in a roughly triangular shape, and areas located immediately adjacent to the towns, is, designated as the Primary Growth Area (PGA) for the County. The vast majority of all

**Deleted:** are

new higher density residential and intensive commercial activity will be directed to the Primary Growth Area. Investments by the County in new or improved public infrastructure and community services will be first directed to the PGA. Generally, appropriate development in the PGA includes moderate-density single-family housing (2-4 units per acre), multi-family housing (4-6 units per acre), small to large commercial and retail activity, offices, industrial parks, and warehousing and distribution facilities.

Deleted:

Secondary Growth Areas are appropriate for concentrating lower density housing and commercial development. There are several traditional village centers located at key crossroads throughout the County that were once centers of residential development and commercial activity. A list of these would include Alfonso, Bertrand, Foxwells, Lively, Litwalton, McNeals Corner, Millenbeck, Mollusk, Morratico, Nuttsville, Ottoman, Palmer, Regina, Weems, and Westland.

Deleted: provide opportunities for residential and commercial land use development at locations outside of the PGA. They help to increase convenient access to residents to basic goods and services through closer proximity. The closer proximity of the SGAs to many residents located away from the PGA along with a mix of uses helps to reduce traffic congestion on County roadways.

Due to their moderate level of existing development and activity, four of these villages -- Lancaster, Lively, Morratico and Weems, are the most suitable locations for Secondary Growth Areas. Generally, appropriate development in the SGAs includes low-to-moderate density single-family housing (1-2 dwelling units per acre), low-density multi-family housing (2-4 dwelling units per acre), small to medium-scale retail activity,

Deleted: significant

Deleted: higher

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted: ,

Deleted:

The Rural Villages of Lancaster County:  
Lancaster County is fortunate in that many of the historic crossroad communities remain relatively unchanged from their early days as points of trade or commercial development. Due to the easy mobility provided by the automobile, many of the functions provided by these crossroads communities are now handled in the incorporated towns of Kilmarnock, White Stone, or Irvington. Nonetheless, many have retained their historic character. The Comprehensive Plan recognizes that preservation of this character is important to preserving the County's history. Furthermore, the Plan recognizes that no two rural villages are the same. Subsequently, it would be a disservice to craft one set of regulations that applies to all of these communities.  
Therefore, the County has developed the Rural Village Overlay District. The Overlay District is intended to be applied to the identified villages of Lancaster County, although it could conceivably be applied in other settings as well. The ordinance adopting a particular Rural Village Overlay must contain two parts: A guiding plan that describes the various development characteristics and design guidelines for the overlay; and a set of overlay district standards that provides dimensional requirements, a schedule of permitted uses, and other development requirements that must be satisfied.  
The guiding plan and standards must be tailored to accommodate appropriate development patterns for the particular rural village or other area where it is being applied. It is anticipated that the process for developing the plan and standards include the Lancaster community as these are areas of historic, cultural, or even social significance in the County's evolution.

offices, and light manufacturing.

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: lands

Deleted: and

Deleted: low density

Rural/Agricultural Areas include those areas that the County wants to retain as farmland and open space or that are primarily appropriate for compact residential development occurring in conservation subdivisions. Conservation Design for Subdivisions by Randal



G. Arendt identifies conservation subdivisions as residential developments that maximize open space open space conservation without reducing overall building density and where half or more of the buildable land area is designated as undivided, permanent open space.” Well-designed conservation subdivisions offer far greater opportunity for significant open space than do conventional subdivisions. They also can help to mitigate or avoid the ‘checkerboard’ development or sprawl by allowing for efficient and creative residential development. They typically allow access to and enjoyment of open space over large-lot subdivisions where the benefit of the undeveloped area or ‘open space’ is primarily retained for homeowner only. The retained open space can serve as active and/or passive recreation space for residents and the wider community. The increased design flexibility allows for septic systems to be placed on the best-suited soils on the individual parcels or to be located ‘off-site’ including in the open space area. Development intensity (density) in conservation subdivisions should not exceed allowed densities for the district, except through a design review process that allows community involvement. These areas are also suitable for forests and forestry, parks and recreational space.

Deleted: [Define “conservation subdivision”].

Residential areas include primarily those areas in the County that have already been approved for residential development or have been developed for residential use. Recognizing that many of these areas have already been developed, new development in the vicinity should recognize existing defined development patterns and be sensitive to established context. Residential areas are located in proximity to the larger towns and concentrations of development.

Deleted: Sorry RJ but once again...how can we influence areas already parcels/sites already approved???

Reservoir overlay districts include eight potential impoundment or reservoir sites identified in a 1973 study. These sites will be carefully managed, and decisions will be reached on which of these sites and their adjoining watersheds should be protected from intensive development. Ensuring an adequate supply of drinking water is important, as the County is entirely dependent on groundwater for its drinking supply and there are well founded concerns that groundwater alone is insufficient to accommodate the County’s needs. Appropriate activities in these areas are those with a relatively small “footprint” such as low-intensity agricultural and timbering uses, open air and low-polluting commercial and industrial uses such as timber storage, and very low density residential development. Uses with high infrastructure and capital investment costs are discouraged from locating within areas identified as potential reservoir sites.

Deleted: Harriett: Do we need both “Growth Areas” and “Residential Areas”? I thought residential development was supposed to occur in the Growth Areas.¶

Deleted:

Deleted: should

Deleted: future

Deleted:

Deleted: within the watersheds

Deleted: should primarily consist of very low residential development.

Deleted: was identified

Deleted: an

Deleted: issue at the public input sessions

Deleted: Overlay districts will be established, and *Only* very low residential and some agricultural activities are appropriate for these overlay districts.

Historic Districts and Places include sites and buildings that are listed on the National Register of Historic Places, the Virginia Landmarks Register and other identified areas of historic or archeological significance.

Industrial/Employment includes locations most suitable for warehousing and storage facilities, light manufacturing plants and some public facilities. Heavy industrial and manufacturing activities with a significant noise, air quality, water quality, and visual impact, as well significant impact on county roads, are not considered appropriate for Lancaster County.

Public Parks and Recreation includes publicly owned or controlled parkland and recreational sites.

Public Lands and Facilities

This category includes all publicly owned lands such as County or State offices, schools, libraries and fire stations and any publicly-owned or controlled water access points.

Towns/Incorporated Areas

This category includes the three towns of Kilmarnock, White Stone and Irvington.

**Objective 2-A: Encourage new and orderly development in areas of the County most suitable for new growth**

- The Future Land Use Map shows the desired future land use patterns in the County. Future development and land use decisions should be consistent with the Future Land Use Map and character areas. ← --- Formatted: Bullets and Numbering
- Concentrate higher-density commercial and residential development in appropriate areas, particularly around existing villages and towns
- Adopt policies or regulations that will allow voluntary means for growth management with incentives to encourage growth in efficient patterns and appropriate areas and encourage the conservation of resources. ← --- Formatted: Bullets and Numbering
- Discourage development of areas with poor soils, high water tables, steep slopes or areas with other environmental constraints.
- Promote and participate in the development of a Regional Land Use Plan for compatible land use at the borders of jurisdictions. ← --- Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

**Objective 2-B: New development should complement and enhance the existing quality and character of existing neighborhoods and communities.**

- Evaluate rezonings and conditional use permit applications to ensure consistency with the Comprehensive Plan and compatibility with the character of the surrounding area. ← --- Formatted: Bullets and Numbering
- Ensure that the scale, character and density of new development is compatible with adjacent land uses.
- Encourage development with design features such as varied building orientation and setback, lot size, façade treatment, open space and landscaping to help avoid the visual repetition of suburban sprawl.
- Reduce the number of permitted uses in existing zoning districts to avoid mixed, incompatible uses within a zoning district. ← --- Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

**Objective 2-C: The County should ensure the provision of adequate water supply by protecting potential future reservoir sites.**

- Eight potential impoundment or reservoir sites were identified in a 1973 study. Preserving these sites to meet future demand is very important for a County that is entirely dependent on groundwater for its drinking supply. The County should ← --- Formatted: Bullets and Numbering



create a special reservoir overlay zone to protect the impoundment areas from encroaching development.

**3. RECREATIONAL OPPORTUNITIES**

Lancaster County needs additional recreational facilities and opportunities, including bicycle and pedestrian paths and trails.

*Goal: Provide a range of recreational facilities and activities to accommodate the needs of all County residents*

Deleted: One of the main themes heard throughout the five public input meetings was the  
Deleted:  
Deleted: for  
Deleted: .

**Objective 3-A: Develop a comprehensive system of pathways and trails, suitable for use by bicyclists, pedestrians, and horse riders**

Deleted: that are

Chapter 6 states the County has adopted a series of Class III (shared with the existing roadway) bikeways which extend throughout the County and includes a related map, *Bicycle Trails of Lancaster County*, with a plan for bikeway improvements. Lancaster County should use this existing Bicycle Trails Plan as the basis for developing a more comprehensive county-wide multi-use trail, bicycle and pedestrian system. The system would serve both short-distance trips between neighborhoods and nearby services, and also longer-distance transportation and recreational users.

Strategies:

- Expand upon the Bicycle Trails Plan to develop a comprehensive County-wide Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Program with a prioritized list of improvements for implementation.
- Inventory and map existing bikeways, sidewalks and trails to determine location and condition as the starting point for the County-wide Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Program.
- Include the action steps in Chapter 6 (Section B. Highways, 3. Planned Highway Improvements by VDOT, C. Bicycle Trail) in the Bicycle and Pedestrian Trails Program. Bike paths and sidewalks will be considered in the design of improved and new road projects. Small projects such as painting bike lane stripes on existing roadways with sufficient pavement width, minor grading, gravel compaction, and vegetation trimming will be undertaken as a means of improving safety and utility. Consistent with the plan, additional grant funding will be sought to carry out such larger projects as bridge widening, separate path construction, and shoulder paving.
- Encourage developers to construct bikeways and sidewalks for transportation and recreation purposes.

Deleted:

Deleted: “

Deleted: ”

**Objective 3-B: Develop a Parks and Recreation Program**

Chapter 6 identifies existing publicly and privately-owned recreational sites and facilities. It also includes a list of standards for a range of recreational facilities including baseball

and softball fields, basketball, tennis and swimming pools and notes that these standards “may be adjusted as appropriate for Lancaster County.” One way in which the County’s population is distinctly different from the rest of the state is its relatively high percentage of residents over the age of 65, estimated to be almost 30% in the 2000 US Census versus 11% statewide. Demographic trends such as these suggest that the County needs to take additional steps to better identify the recreational opportunities that are most appropriate and desired by residents.

Deleted: s

Strategies

- Establish a citizen’s committee charged with making recommendations for projects and improvements to be included in the Parks and Recreation Master Program with a prioritized list of desired improvements and facilities.
- Conduct an inventory of the current publicly-owned and privately-owned recreational facilities that are accessible to the public.
- Survey County residents to determine recreation needs and priorities
- Use the Program as a basis for identifying proffers for development or redevelopment
- Many citizens identified improved public access to the water as a desired element of recreational opportunities in the County. The ‘Public and Private Access to Waterfront Areas Plan’ in Chapter 5 includes several goals and objectives to improve public access to water, and should serve as the basis for this element of the County’s Parks and Recreation Program.

**4. DIVERSE COMMUNITIES**

Lancaster County needs more ‘affordable’ or ‘workforce’ housing in the County along with the need for a diverse housing stock. About 84% of the approximately 614 residential building permits issued in the County between 2000 and 2005 were for single-family residential units. Additionally, much of the new development was and continues to be located on very expensive waterfront areas. According to the 2000 Census, about 3.2% of existing homes in the County were in multi-unit structures, as compared to over 21% statewide. The great majority of land in the County is zoned for large-lot development (one dwelling unit per one or per two acres). Meanwhile, the median income in the County, an estimated \$33,239 in the year 2000, was significantly lower than statewide (\$46, 677). The County also had a higher estimated percentage of persons below the poverty level than statewide (12.5% vs. 9.6%)

Deleted: A recurring theme during the five public input meetings was the need for

Deleted: n

Lancaster County desires to retain its traditional diverse and eclectic housing stock and communities, with a range of housing types and income levels located in close proximity, as an important component of community character.

Deleted: The 2000 Plan noted the only sites designated for apartments and multi-family dwellings, in the R-2 zoning district that was removed from the County’s zoning ordinance in 2005, were fully occupied, “indicating a strong a need for additional affordable housing areas.” However, the Plan did not include any specific goals or objectives to address the issue of affordable housing or providing a range of housing options.

*Goal: Provide a range of housing options and types to preserve the diversity of the County’s communities and to meet the housing needs of County residents*

Deleted: Citizens also frequently mentioned the

Deleted: County’s

Deleted: which was cited

Deleted:

**Objectives 4-A: Allow for a range of choice in housing type, design, density and price**

Deleted: s

**Strategies**

- Encourage diverse and innovative housing and subdivision design.
- Revise the County’s Zoning Ordinance to allow for residential neighborhoods which offer a variety of housing types with appropriate development standards to ensure compatibility with surrounding development.
- Ensure an adequate supply of land in appropriate locations is provided for medium density residential development.
- Encourage infill development in residential areas to minimize development costs and maximize the development potential of land convenient to public facilities and services.
- Revise the Zoning Ordinance as necessary to allow for increased housing flexibility in residential districts. These revisions should allow conservation subdivision, zero-lot line development, accessory apartment, mixed housing types and other innovative design options with appropriate development standards.
- Provide bonuses or incentives to development proposals that address the need for affordable housing.
- Review family member transfer standards to ensure regulations are not creating an undue burden on families.
- Revise and adopt the improved R-2 district to allow for additional multi-family housing development with appropriate development standards to prevent unwanted development patterns and provide transitions between different development styles.
- Coordinate with neighboring jurisdictions to develop a regional approach to housing needs.

Deleted: planned

Deleted: encourage

Deleted: Allow increased densities

Deleted: in

Deleted: .

**Planning Process**

In addition to land use issues, the County will improve the planning process itself, increasing opportunities for public participation in land use decision making, and improving the link between the Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning Ordinance. The County will also seek better coordination on land use planning between the County and the three towns.

Deleted: many citizens commented on

Deleted: such as

Deleted: increased

Deleted: concerns over spot zoning

Deleted: Many also expressed the desire to see

**Plan Implementation**

Lancaster County has limited planning resources and staff, and like all other jurisdictions, many demands for public funds. Nevertheless, with public input, the County will develop an implementation program for the Plan, with short-term, mid-term and long-term priorities. A Plan Advisory Committee should be created and charged with semi-annual or annual progress review and reports on the implementation program.

Deleted: It is recognized that

Deleted: It is recommended that the County,

Deleted: ¶  
¶  
It is also recommended that a

Deleted:

Lancaster County is fortunate to have a large number of citizens who are committed

Deleted: very interested

ensuring the overall quality of life in the County over the future. The County will utilize this resource by creating various citizen task forces charged with assisting to implement various elements of the Plan. These task forces will include representation from all perspectives of the County.

Deleted: in assisting with

Deleted: should

Deleted: should

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

Deleted: ¶

¶

¶

¶

¶

Deleted: ¶

¶

¶

In the Fall of 2005, Lancaster County initiated the update of the 2000 Comprehensive Plan. The purpose of the Update is two-fold. The first is to meet the statutory requirement (Title 15.2-2223 of the State Code) that localities review their Comprehensive Plan at least every five years. Secondly, the County determined that the 2000 Plan and land use codes did not provide effective tools to manage land use and to preserve the County's natural beauty and rural character. Recently cited as "One of the Best Places to Live" in *Progressive Farmer* magazine, the County can expect to receive increasing interest from retiring baby boomers and others attracted to its unique scenic resources, extensive waterfront and high quality of life. Many would agree with Captain John Smith's assessment, made almost four hundred years ago in 1608, that the County is "a place where heaven and earth never agreed better to frame man's habitation." County officials often found themselves attempting to make incremental decisions on land use without clearly articulated guiding principles or maps in the Plan. Recognizing that improved policies and regulations were badly needed to help guide future land use, the County determined that the main focus of the update would be to revise the Plan's land use elements and related provisions in the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances.

The Plan update began with a series of five public input meetings held in locations throughout the County. The meetings were on the following locations and dates:

- March 4, 2006 from 10:00am to 12:00am at Lancaster High School
- March 4, 2006 from 2:00pm to 4:00pm at the Upper Lancaster Ruritan
- March 10, 2006 from 7:00pm to 9:00pm at Sharon Baptist Church
- March 11, 2006 from 10:00am to 12:00am at White Stone Firehouse
- March 11, 2006 from 2:00pm to 4:00pm at Tides Inn

There was one public meeting in each of the five Magisterial Districts in Lancaster County. In addition to members of the community and the Planning Commissioner from the Magisterial District in which the meeting was held, there were additional Commission Members and in some cases county staff in attendance at the meetings. The LandDesign Team presented large format graphics detailing goals and objectives of the planning process, basic demographic data, and the following maps:

- Bike trails
- Floodplains
- Future Land Use
- Population Density
- Prime Farmland
- Resource Protection Areas
- Septic Suitability
- Traffic Volume

The meetings were called to order by the appropriate Planning Commissioner, who welcomed participants and provided general introductory remarks. A member of the LandDesign Team followed with additional detail about the planning process and the format of the meeting. The larger group then broke into smaller groups. A member of the LandDesign Team was assigned to each small group to facilitate discussion around the

following questions:

What word or phrase do you think best describes Lancaster County?

What are the things that you like most about the County that should be preserved?

Are there any changes you would like to see?

What should the County do to preserve what you like and makes that changes you want?

A large format Working Base Map of the County was provided at each table and participants were encouraged to refer to it and mark on it as needed. The facilitator from the LandDesign Team recorded comments from the discussion in each small group on large format flipchart paper.

The comments of each small group were reported back to the larger group what it had discussed. Participants were also provided with a comment card to provide additional feedback, suggestions, questions, or concerns. The Planning Commissioner and a member of the LandDesign Team answered questions and offered concluding remarks at the end of each meeting.

The following primary issues emerged through the course of the five meetings and other public input provided to the Consultant team.

Preserve the County's rural character

Preserve the quality of the County's waterfront

Manage the quality of the character of future development

Preserve and increase public access to the county's waterfront

Preserve historic character, buildings and sites

Increase the supply of affordable housing

Pursue economic development and increase jobs, particularly for young people and working-age adults

Protect the watershed, groundwater, aquifers, drinking water, and waterways and ensure the adequate supply of potable water

Prevent sprawl and 'checker-board' development

Concentrate higher-density commercial and residential development in appropriate areas, particularly around existing villages and towns

Increase recreational opportunities including parks, biking and trails

Following the public input meetings, the 2000 Comprehensive Plan was reviewed to determine the changes needed to address the land use issues and goals identified by the community. These revised elements of the Plan are contained in this chapter.

The public input meetings were also used to develop, for the first time, a Vision Statement for the County